RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN **12-10-2018**

IN SUPREME COUR PLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

Case No. 2017AP1518-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant-Petitioner,

v.

JESSICA M. RANDALL,

Defendant-Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS, DISTRICT IV, AFFIRMING AN ORDER GRANTING A MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE, ENTERED IN THE DANE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE NICHOLAS MCNAMARA PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General of Wisconsin

MICHAEL C. SANDERS Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1030550

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant-Petitioner

ISSUE PRESENTED

A law enforcement officer arrested the Defendant-Respondent, Jessica M. Randall, for operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of an intoxicant (OWI), and Randall voluntarily submitted to a request for a blood sample under the implied consent law. After law enforcement seized a blood sample, Randall attempted to withdraw her consent to the analysis of the blood for the presence and quantity of alcohol and drugs. Is Randall entitled to suppression of the results of the blood test because she withdrew her consent?

The circuit court answered "yes," and suppressed the blood test results.

The court of appeals answered "yes," and affirmed.

This Court should answer "no," and reverse. The search was the blood draw. Once the search was completed, and the blood was lawfully seized, law enforcement was entitled to analyze it without a warrant or consent. The analysis of the blood is not a Fourth Amendment search because a person who voluntarily surrenders a blood sample after being arrested for OWI has no reasonable expectation of privacy in the blood when law enforcement want to test it for the presence and quantity of alcohol and drugs.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

By granting review, this Court has indicated that oral argument and publication are appropriate.

INTRODUCTION

Randall was arrested for OWI, and she submitted to a law enforcement officer's request for a blood sample under the implied consent law. After her blood was drawn, but before the Wisconsin State Laboratory of Hygiene analyzed it, Randall filed a motion seeking to withdraw her consent to the analysis of the blood sample. After the lab analyzed the sample, Randall moved to suppress the results. The circuit court granted the motion, and the court of appeals affirmed. The court of appeals concluded that the taking of a blood sample and the analysis of the sample constitute a single search to which constitutional protections attach, and that a person can withdraw consent to a search at any time until the search is completed. It therefore concluded that a person arrested for OWI who consents to a blood draw can withdraw that consent after the blood is drawn, thereby preventing analysis of the blood sample without a warrant.

The court of appeals' decision was based on two cases, State v. VanLaarhoven, 2001 WI App 275, 248 Wis. 2d 881, 637 N.W.2d 411, and State v. Wantland, 2014 WI 58, 355 Wis. 2d 135, 848 N.W.2d 810. Neither case supports the court of appeals' conclusion. Under VanLaarhoven, the search is the blood draw. A person can withdraw consent to the search, until the blood is drawn, by refusing the blood draw. But once the blood is drawn, the search is over. The blood sample is the evidence that is seized. And the lawful seizure of evidence includes the analysis of the evidence—the testing at the lab. Law enforcement does not need a warrant or consent to analyze a blood sample that it has validly seized. And Wantland did not hold—contrary to well-established precedent—that a suspect can withdraw consent to a search after the search is conducted and law enforcement has lawfully seized the evidence.

This Court should reverse the court of appeals' decision because that decision is contrary to well-established law. Analysis of evidence that has been lawfully seized after a search is part of the seizure and does not require a warrant or an exception to the warrant requirement. The analysis of the blood is not a Fourth Amendment search because a person

arrested for OWI who voluntarily surrenders a blood sample has no legitimate privacy interest in the blood after it is drawn, such that law enforcement is required to obtain a warrant to analyze the blood for the presence and quantity of alcohol and drugs.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Randall was arrested for OWI in Fitchburg on October 29, 2016. (R. 1:1; 18:1.) The arresting officer read the Informing the Accused form to Randall, and requested a blood sample. (R. 1:2; 18:1.) Randall agreed to provide a sample, which was drawn at a hospital. (R. 1:2.)

On October 31, 2016, before the blood sample was analyzed, Randall sent a letter to the Wisconsin State Laboratory of Hygiene, stating that she "revokes any previous consent that she may have provided to the collection and analysis of her blood," and that she "demands that it be returned to her or destroyed immediately." (R. 18:4.) An advanced chemist responded in a letter referencing the lab's retention policy, and stating that the lab "requires authorization from the specimen submitter prior to releasing a specimen from the Laboratory." (R. 18:5.) The advanced chemist analyzed the blood sample on November 7, 2016, and the lab prepared a report on November 10, 2016, indicating that analysis of the blood sample revealed a blood alcohol concentration of .210 grams of ethanol per 100 milliliters of blood. (R. 18:6.)

The State charged Randall with OWI and with a prohibited alcohol concentration (PAC), both as a third offense. (R. 1:1–2.) Randall moved to suppress the blood test result on two grounds: (1) that her consent to the blood draw was not free, intelligent, unequivocal, and specific (R. 17), and (2) that the analysis of the blood violated the Fourth

Amendment because she withdrew her consent before the blood was analyzed (R. 18).

The circuit court, the Honorable Nicholas McNamara, presiding, rejected Randall's argument that she did not validly consent to the blood draw, and denied that part of her motion without a hearing. (R. 33:40.) But the court granted the motion to suppress the blood test results on the ground that Randall withdrew her consent to analysis of the blood sample before the lab analyzed it. (R. 33:61.) The court stated that Randall was "definitely not entitled to have the blood destroyed," but concluded that she withdrew her consent to have the blood analyzed, so the test results could not be used at trial. (R. 33:59–60.)

The State appealed, and the court of appeals affirmed in a one-judge opinion by Judge Kloppenburg. *State v. Randall*, No. 2017AP1518-CR, 2018 WL 3006260 (Wis. Ct. App. June 14, 2018) (unpublished). The court concluded that the search of Randall's blood comprised both the taking and testing of the blood, and that Randall had a right to withdraw her consent to that search at any point until the blood was analyzed. *Id.* ¶ 13. The court further concluded that after Randall withdrew her consent to the analysis of the blood, "the State lost its only lawful basis for the warrantless search and its subsequent testing was done in violation of Randall's Fourth Amendment rights." *Id.*

This Court granted the State's petition for review.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

"An order granting . . . a motion to suppress evidence presents a question of constitutional fact." Wantland, 355 Wis. 2d 135, ¶ 18 (quoting $State\ v.\ Robinson$, 2010 WI 80, ¶ 22, 327 Wis. 2d 302, 786 N.W.2d 463). An appellate court reviews a question of constitutional fact "in a two-step inquiry." Id. ¶ 19 (quoting Robinson, 327 Wis. 2d 302, ¶ 22). It reviews "the

circuit court's findings of historical fact under a deferential standard, upholding them unless they are clearly erroneous." *Id.* Then, it independently appl[ies] constitutional principles to those facts." *Id.*

ARGUMENT

A person who voluntarily surrenders a blood sample after being arrested for OWI has no reasonable expectation of privacy in the blood when law enforcement want to test it for the presence and quantity of alcohol and drugs. Analysis of the blood is not a Fourth Amendment search, and law enforcement is entitled to analyze evidence it has lawfully seized.

A. Applicable legal principles.

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that:

The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated, and no Warrants shall issue, but upon probable cause, supported by Oath or affirmation, and particularly describing the place to be searched, and the persons or things to be seized.

The Fourth Amendment thus prohibits "unreasonable searches and seizures." "A 'search' occurs when an expectation of privacy that society is prepared to consider reasonable is infringed." *United States v. Jacobsen*, 466 U.S. 109, 113 (1984). "A 'seizure' of property occurs when there is some meaningful interference with an individual's possessory interests in that property." *Id*.

"[T]he taking of a blood sample or the administration of a breath test is a search." *Birchfield v. North Dakota*, 136 S. Ct. 2160, 2173 (2016) (citing *Skinner v. Ry. Lab. Execs. Assn.*, 489 U.S. 602, 616–17 (1989); *Schmerber v. California*, 384 U.S. 757, 767–68 (1966)). "[A] search conducted pursuant to a valid consent is constitutionally permissible." Wantland, 355 Wis. 2d 135, ¶ 20 (quoting Schneckloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218, 222 (1973)). A person who has voluntarily consented to a search may withdraw that consent by unequivocal act or statement. Id. ¶¶ 33–34.

1. Under well-established precedent. police are entitled to analyze a blood sample that they have lawfully seized from a person arrested for OWI to determine the presence and quantity of alcohol and drugs in the blood. The person has no legitimate privacy interest in the blood when law enforcement seek to analyze it for that purpose.

This Court has recognized that when law enforcement validly seizes evidence, it is entitled to analyze it. State v. Petrone, 161 Wis. 2d 530, 468 N.W.2d 676 (1991) (overruled in part on other grounds by State v. Greve, 2004 WI 69, 272 Wis. 2d 444, 681 N.W.2d 479). In *Petrone*, this Court considered whether police could validly analyze undeveloped rolls of film that they seized pursuant to a search warrant. The defendant argued that even if the film was lawfully seized, the developing of the film was a separate search for which officers needed a warrant. Id. at 544. This Court unanimously rejected the defendant's argument, because "[d]eveloping the film is simply a method of examining a lawfully seized object." Id. at 545. This Court explained that "[l]aw enforcement officers may employ various methods to examine objects lawfully seized in the execution of a warrant. For example, blood stains or substances gathered in a lawful search may be subjected to laboratory analysis." *Id*.

The United States Supreme Court similarly recognized that law enforcement has the right to analyze lawfully seized evidence in *Schmerber*. In *Schmerber*, the defendant was arrested for OWI, and his blood was drawn without his consent. *Schmerber*, 384 U.S. at 758–59. The blood was analyzed, and that analysis revealed an alcohol concentration indicating intoxication. *Id.* at 759. The defendant challenged both the blood draw and the admission of the blood test results at trial. *Id.* The Supreme Court concluded that the blood sample was properly drawn incident to the defendant's arrest for drunk driving because of exigent circumstances, and it affirmed the appellate opinion which had affirmed the defendant's conviction. *Id.* at 759, 770–71.

The Court in Schmerber did not separately address the constitutionality of the analysis of the blood that had been lawfully seized. But as the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit later recognized, Schmerber did not conclude that the analysis of the blood was justified by exigent circumstances. It could not have done so, because the analysis was conducted long after the blood was seized. *United States* v. Snyder, 852 F.2d 471, 473 (9th Cir. 1988). And the Court did not conclude that the analysis was justified by a warrant, or another exception to the warrant requirement, because no warrant was obtained, and no other exception applied. "The only justification for the seizure of defendant's blood was the need to obtain evidence of alcohol content." Id. at 474. "The Court therefore necessarily viewed the right to seize the blood as encompassing the right to conduct a blood-alcohol test at some later time." Id. The Ninth Circuit concluded that "under Schmerber, so long as blood is extracted incident to a valid arrest based on probable cause to believe that the suspect was driving under the influence of alcohol, the subsequent performance of a blood-alcohol test has no independent

significance for fourth amendment purposes, regardless of how promptly the test is conducted." *Id*.

The Wisconsin Court of Appeals has recognized that under *Petrone* and *Snyder*, the analysis of a blood sample legally seized from a person arrested for OWI has no separate Fourth Amendment significance and does not require a warrant or an exception to the warrant requirement—police are entitled to analyze it. *VanLaarhoven*, 248 Wis. 2d 881, ¶ 16–17; *State v. Reidel*, 2003 WI App 18, ¶¶ 16–17, 259 Wis. 2d 921, 656 N.W.2d 789.

In VanLaarhoven, the defendant was arrested for OWI, and he submitted to an officer's request for a blood sample under the implied consent law. VanLaarhoven, 248 Wis. 2d 881, ¶ 2. After his blood was drawn and analyzed, the defendant moved to suppress the test results, arguing that the analysis was a search that required a warrant. Id. ¶ 3. The circuit court rejected the defendant's argument, and the court of appeals affirmed. The court of appeals dismissed the defendant's assertion that he had a reasonable privacy interest in his blood after it was extracted from his body so that analysis of the blood required a warrant. Id. ¶¶ 10–11. It concluded that "VanLaarhoven has consented to both the extraction of his blood and its subsequent testing and has waived any privacy interest in the blood sample." Id. ¶ 11.

The VanLaarhoven court then applied Petrone and Snyder, cases which it determined to be "on point." VanLaarhoven, 248 Wis. 2d 881, ¶ 12. The court observed that "Petrone and Snyder teach that the examination of evidence seized pursuant to the warrant requirement or an exception to the warrant requirement is an essential part of the seizure and does not require a judicially authorized warrant." Id. ¶ 16. The court added that "[b]oth decisions refuse to permit a defendant to parse the lawful seizure of a blood sample into multiple components each to be given independent

significance for purposes of the warrant requirement." Id. The court concluded that "law enforcement was permitted to conduct an analysis of VanLaarhoven's blood to determine if it contained evidence of a blood alcohol concentration in excess of the legal limit." Id. ¶ 17.

In *Reidel*, the court of appeals reached the same result in a case in which a defendant arrested for OWI did not consent to a blood draw, but refused and withdrew his implied consent. Reidel, 259 Wis. 2d 921, ¶¶ 1–2. The defendant's blood was drawn under the exigent circumstances exception to the warrant requirement. Id. ¶ 6. He moved to suppress the results of the analysis of his blood, arguing that the analysis was a second search, which was not justified by exigent circumstances, and for which officers did not obtain a warrant. Id. ¶¶ 4, 7. The circuit court denied the motion, and the court of appeals affirmed. The court of appeals noted that unlike in VanLaarhoven, the defendant did not consent to the initial search. Id. ¶ 11. But like in VanLaarhoven, the court of appeals relied on *Petrone* and *Snyder*, in which the defendants refused the initial search, deeming those cases "informative and persuasive." *Id*.

The court of appeals in *Reidel* noted that in *VanLaarhoven*, it had concluded that:

Snyder and Petrone stand for the proposition that the 'examination of evidence seized pursuant to the warrant requirement or an exception to the warrant requirement is an essential part of the seizure and does not require a judicially authorized warrant. Both decisions refuse to permit a defendant to parse the lawful seizure of a blood sample into multiple components.'

Id. ¶ 16 (quoting VanLaarhoven, 248 Wis. 2d 881, ¶ 16). The court found "the reasoning of Snyder, Petrone and VanLaarhoven persuasive," and adopted their holdings. Id. ¶ 16. It concluded that "the police were not required to obtain

a warrant prior to submitting Riedel's blood for analysis." *Id*. The court further concluded that "the subsequent analysis of Riedel's blood was simply the examination of evidence obtained pursuant to a valid search." *Id*. ¶ 17.

The holdings in *VanLaarhoven* and *Reidel* are clear. When police have lawfully seized a blood sample from a person arrested for OWI, whether with a warrant, the person's consent, or another exception to the warrant requirement, police may analyze the blood for the presence and quantity of alcohol and drugs. No further justification is required because analyzing the blood is not a Fourth Amendment event.

Courts in other jurisdictions have reached the same conclusion in regards to blood tests for people arrested for OWI. In *People v. Woodard*, the Michigan Court of Appeals addressed a situation much like the one in this case, and it relied on the reasoning of *VanLaarhoven*. Police arrested the defendant for OWI, and her blood was drawn with her consent. *People v. Woodard*, 909 N.W.2d 299, 302 (Mich. Ct. App. 2017). Before the blood was analyzed, the defendant sought to revoke her consent. *Id.* After the blood was analyzed, the defendant moved to suppress the results. *Id.* The circuit court denied the motion, concluding that "testing of a lawfully obtained sample did not violate the Fourth Amendment." *Id.*

The Michigan Court of Appeals affirmed. It concluded that the defendant was lawfully searched, and her blood was lawfully seized. *Woodard*, 909 N.W.2d at 305–06. The court concluded that "the testing of blood evidence is an essential part of the seizure." *Id.* at 306 (quoting *VanLaarhoven*, 248 Wis. 2d 881, ¶ 16). After analyzing decisions from other jurisdictions, including *VanLaarhoven*, *Schmerber* and *Snyder*, the court concluded that "[f]rom these persuasive authorities, we draw the basic understanding that blood

which has been lawfully collected for analysis may be analyzed without infringing additional privacy interests or raising separate Fourth Amendment concerns." *Id.* at 307.

In *State v. Fawcett*, the Minnesota Court of Appeals rejected the argument that a warrant was necessary to test blood for drugs when the blood was drawn pursuant to a warrant that authorized testing only for alcohol. *State v. Fawcett*, 877 N.W.2d 555, 558 (Minn. Ct. App. 2016). The court concluded that a second warrant was unnecessary because "[o]nce a blood sample has been lawfully removed from a person's body, a person loses an expectation of privacy in the blood sample, and a subsequent chemical analysis of the blood sample is, therefore, not a distinct Fourth Amendment event." *Id.* at 561.

In *Harrison v. Comm'r of Pub. Safety*, the Minnesota Court of Appeals similarly concluded that no warrant was necessary to analyze blood drawn with the suspect's consent. It reasoned that "when the state has lawfully obtained a sample of a person's blood under the implied-consent law, specifically for the purpose of determining alcohol concentration, the person has lost any legitimate expectation of privacy in the alcohol concentration derived from analysis of the sample." *Harrison v. Comm'r of Pub. Safety*, 781 N.W.2d 918, 921 (Minn. Ct. App. 2010).

In *State v. Loveland*, police obtained a urine sample without the suspect's consent, in order to test for marijuana. *State v. Loveland*, 696 N.W.2d 164, 165 (S.D. 2005). But a drug screen revealed the presence of cocaine in the urine. *Id.* at 165. The suspect moved to suppress, asserting that testing the sample for cocaine violated the Fourth Amendment. *Id.* The circuit court granted the motion, but the Supreme Court of South Dakota reversed. It concluded that "[o]nce a urine sample is properly seized, the individual that provided the sample has no legitimate or reasonable expectation that the

presence of illegal substances in that sample will remain private." *Id.* at 166. It thus reasoned that testing the sample for other substances "did not implicate the Fourth Amendment's protection against unreasonable searches and seizures." *Id.* at 167.

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