# STATE OF WISCONSIN IN SUPREME COURT

# RECEIVED

01-03-2019

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant-Petitioner,

v. Appeal No.: 17 AP 1518-CR

JESSICA M. RANDALL,

Defendant-Respondent.

\_\_\_\_\_

ON APPEAL FROM A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS, DISTRICT IV, AFFIRMING AN ORDER GRANTING A MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE, ENTERED IN THE DANE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE NICHOLAS MCNAMARA PRESIDING

#### BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT

Respectfully submitted,

JESSICA M. RANDALL, Defendant-Respondent

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

More recently, the United States Supreme Court decided *Riley* v. *California*. 46 In *Riley*, the defendant was placed under arrest, and,

<sup>44</sup> State's Br. at 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> United States v. Jacobsen, 466 U.S. 109, 114 (1984).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> *Riley v. California*, 134 S. Ct. 2473 (2014).

during a search incident to his arrest, a police officer seized his cell phone. At Rather than concluding that the police officer was entitled to thoroughly examine the defendant's lawfully-seized cell phone, the Supreme Court broke down the legal analysis into separate events—the initial seizure or collection of the phone, and the subsequent analysis of its contents. The Court found that the government needed a distinct legal justification to "examine" the cell phone, because such an examination involves very different privacy rights than the mere possession of the physical object. The Court bluntly concluded that before searching a cell phone seized incident to arrest, the police should "get a warrant."

The conflict between *Petrone* and *Riley*, like the conflict between *Petrone* and *Jacobsen*, is apparent. Under the rule of *Petrone*, there is no conceivable situation under which a law enforcement officer would be required to "get a warrant" to examine a lawfully-seized cell phone. Yet *Riley* is the law of the land.

There is no principled reason why the examination of a lawfully-seized package or cell phone should constitute a search while

<sup>47</sup> *Id.* at 2480.

<sup>48</sup> *Id*. at 2493, 2495.

<sup>49</sup> *Id*. at 2490.

<sup>50</sup> *Id.* at 2495.

the examination of a blood sample does not.<sup>51</sup> All are items that contain private information within them. A search is defined not by the location or type of item being searched but by the privacy interests involved. In the seminal case *Katz v. United States*, the Court observed that "the Fourth Amendment protects people, not places."<sup>52</sup> Our Fourth Amendment jurisprudence is ultimately not concerned with where or in what format information may be kept, but with whether a legitimate expectation of privacy exists in the information itself.

As outlined above, Randall had a legitimate expectation of privacy in certain information. It is irrelevant that the information was contained in her blood, rather than on her cell phone or in documents in a package—it is her interest in keeping that information private that renders the government action a search. Indeed, to the extent that there is any difference in the privacy interests involved, a person's privacy interests should be at their *highest* when his or her own biological

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> The State claims, citing to a Washington case, that *Riley* is "explicitly limited" to "cell phones seized during searches incident to arrest." State's Br. at 23 (internal citations omitted). While, indeed, *Riley* is immediately concerned with cell phones seized incident to arrest, the decision contains no "explicit limitation" that would preclude its application to other factual scenarios. While the instant case does not involve a cell phone or a search incident to arrest, the reasoning and principles involved in the *Riley* decision are applicable to the issues here. Inaccurately claiming that the decision contains an "explicit limitation" is not a sufficient reason to disregard binding federal precedent.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> *Katz*, 389 U.S. at 351.

material is at stake. Had the police performed a warrantless examination of Randall's cell phone or a package to acquire evidence of her blood alcohol content, there would be no question that a Fourth Amendment search had occurred. Simply because the information is located within a biological specimen does not change the legal analysis.

D. It is irrelevant whether the analysis of Randall's blood sample is categorized as a second search or as a continuation of the initial search.

The Wisconsin court of appeals cases State v. Riedel and State v. VanLaarhoven stand for the general principle that the analysis of a blood sample by the government is not a "second search." A dispute exists as to whether these cases truly stand for the proposition that the analysis of a blood sample is a part of the same search that begins with the collection of the blood sample, or whether these cases stand for the proposition that the analysis of the blood is not a search at all. The court of appeals in this case concluded that "VanLaarhoven teaches us that there is one continuous search that begins with the taking of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> State v. Riedel, 2003 WI App 18, 259 Wis. 2d 921, 656 N.W.2d 789; State v. VanLaarhoven, 2001 WI App 275, 248 Wis. 2d 881, 637 N.W.2d 411.

blood and continues through the testing of that blood."<sup>54</sup> The State strongly disagrees with this interpretation.<sup>55</sup>

VanLaarhoven never explicitly states that the analysis of a blood sample is a search—but it also never explicitly states that it is not a search. Its holding is simply that, because the defendant explicitly consented to the analysis of his blood sample, the police were not required to obtain a warrant prior to submitting the blood sample for testing.<sup>56</sup> An examination of the details of the case reveals that it is likely that the VanLaarhoven court believed that some Fourth-Amendment justification was necessary for the blood analysis.

In *VanLaarhoven*, the defendant was arrested for operating while under the influence of an intoxicant, was read the implied consent form, and consented to an evidentiary chemical test of his blood.<sup>57</sup> Unlike Randall, he never retracted or withdrew that consent.<sup>58</sup> His blood was duly tested, and he then moved to suppress, arguing

<sup>54</sup> *Randall*, 2018 WI App 45, ¶ 11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup> State's Br. at 15–22. It should be noted that in its court of appeals briefing, the State took the opposite position, arguing that "The analysis of Randall's blood . . . was simply *part of the search to which Randall consented* when she submitted a blood sample for testing[.]" State's Ct. App. Br. at 9 (emphasis supplied). Having received an adverse decision, the State now takes a contrary position before this Court. This should not be permitted. "It is contrary to fundamental principles of justice and orderly procedure to permit a party to assume a certain position in the course of litigation which may be advantageous, and then after the court maintains that position argue on appeal that [it] was error." *State v. Gove* 148 Wis. 2d 936, 944, 437 N.W.2d 218 (1989).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> *VanLaarhoven*, 2001 WI App 275, ¶ 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> *Id*. ¶¶ 2, 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup> *Id*. ¶ 3.

that, despite his consent, the analysis of his blood was a second search that required a warrant.<sup>59</sup>

This argument was unsuccessful. The court of appeals pointed out that by agreeing to an "evidentiary chemical test," the defendant had "consented to a taking of a sample of his blood *and* the chemical analysis of that sample." The court of appeals reiterated this point several times: "VanLaarhoven consented to the extraction *and* testing of his blood[.]" and "VanLaarhoven has consented to both the extraction of his blood *and* its subsequent testing." It specifically noted that, by virtue of his consent, the defendant had "waived any privacy interest in the blood sample."

This last quotation is key. If, as the State contends, no privacy interest exists in a blood sample after it has been withdrawn, then the court of appeals in *VanLaarhoven* could simply have said so. But instead it repeatedly pointed out that the defendant had expressly consented to blood *testing*, thereby *waiving* his right to the privacy of the information contained within the blood sample. One does not need to waive a right that one does not have. *VanLaarhoven*, and *Riedel*, which relies on its holding, can therefore reasonably be read, as the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>60</sup> *Id*.  $\P$  8 (emphasis supplied).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>61</sup> *Id*. ¶¶ 10–11 (emphasis supplied).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>62</sup> *Id.* ¶ 11. (emphasis supplied).

court of appeals did here, to stand for the proposition that the analysis of a blood sample is part of one continuous search that begins with the collection of blood.

The important question for Randall's case, though, is whether the analysis of a blood sample is a search at all. This issue is addressed above. If, as the State claims, the analysis is not a search, then this Court does not need to delve into the details of these court of appeals cases. If the analysis of a blood sample is a search, then it is generally irrelevant whether it is "part of" the same event as the collection of the blood sample or its own separate event—either way, a search must be justified under the Fourth Amendment.

# E. "Persuasive authorities" exist on both sides of the issue, but the binding precedent favors Randall's position.

In its review of extra-jurisdictional caselaw, the State claims to have been unable to find any case holding that the analysis of a biological specimen is a Fourth-Amendment search. While this issue has not been addressed in every jurisdiction, at least two other states have concluded that the analysis of a biological specimen is a search.

In *State v. Martinez*, the Court of Appeals of Texas explained that the law recognizes at least three distinct privacy interests involved in blood testing, each with its own Fourth-Amendment protections:

first, the collection of the blood sample; second, exercising control over and testing the sample; and third, obtaining the results of the test.<sup>63</sup> For this proposition, it cited to *State v. Hardy*, a 1997 case.<sup>64</sup>

In *Diaz v. Van Wie*, the Court of Appeals of Arizona also recognized that in blood-alcohol cases, the Fourth Amendment can be implicated both by the collection of the blood and by its subsequent testing.<sup>65</sup> Another Arizona case recognizes a similar distinction between the privacy interests involved in the collection of a DNA sample and its analysis.<sup>66</sup>

While it is true that some states have reached the opposite conclusion, it must be noted that some of the cases cited by the State do not stand for the propositions for which the State cites them. First, in *State v. Loveland*, the issue was whether a urine sample could be tested for cocaine when the defendant had only consented to testing for marijuana.<sup>67</sup> While the analysis was ultimately upheld as a lawful search, the Supreme Court of South Dakota *declined* to find that the defendant did not have a privacy interest in the urine sample after it

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup> *State v. Martinez*, 534 S.W.3d 97, 100 (Tex. Crim. App. 2017) (*discretionary review granted*, Jan. 24, 2018).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>64</sup> State v. Hardy, 963 S.W.2d 516, 526 (Tex. Crim. App. 1997).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>65</sup> *Diaz v. Van Wie*, 245 Ariz. 235, ¶¶ 7–8, 426 P.3d 1214, 1216 (App. 2018), *review denied* (Dec. 13, 2018).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>66</sup> *Mario W. v. Kaipio*, 230 Ariz. 122, 126–27, ¶¶ 18–19, 281 P.3d 476, 480–81 (2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>67</sup> State v. Loveland, 2005 SD 48, ¶ 3, 696 N.W.2d 164.

had been provided, specifically noting its concern that "such samples may contain vast amounts of sensitive personal information about the person they were taken from." <sup>68</sup>

Second, the State cites to the Minnesota Court of Appeals' decision in *State v. Fawcett* for the principle that a person has no expectation of privacy in a blood sample that has been lawfully removed from his or her body.<sup>69</sup> The State neglects to mention that the Supreme Court of Minnesota granted Fawcett's petition for review and specifically revisited the Minnesota Court of Appeals' statements concerning a person's expectation of privacy in blood samples.<sup>70</sup> This portion of the decision reads:

Fawcett also argues that the court of appeals erred in concluding that once her blood was seized pursuant to a warrant, she no longer had an expectation of privacy in the blood. We agree with Fawcett that she did not lose all expectation of privacy in her blood that was seized pursuant to a warrant and that the court of appeals' rule is too broad.<sup>71</sup>

Thus, contrary to the State's claim, Minnesota recognizes that a person *does* maintain an expectation of privacy in a blood sample even after it has been seized.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>68</sup> *Id*. ¶ 7, n.1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>69</sup> State's Br. at 25–26; citing State v. Fawcett, 877 N.W.2d 555, (Minn. App. 2016).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>70</sup> State v. Fawcett, 884 N.W.2d 380 (Minn. 2016).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>71</sup> *Id.* 884 N.W.2d at 384, n. 3 (emphasis supplied).

In summary, there are cases that could be cited for persuasive authority on both sides of the issue. The only cases that constitute binding precedent on this Court, however, are those that Randall relies on—namely, *Skinner*, *Birchfield*, and *Riley*. These cases, as articulated above, compel the conclusion that individuals do have a legitimate expectation of privacy in the information contained within their blood, and that a Fourth Amendment justification is therefore needed to conduct an analysis of a blood sample.

# F. The implied consent statute has nothing to do with the issues before this Court.

The State also raises several issues related to Wisconsin's implied consent statute.<sup>72</sup> The issues before this Court are constitutional issues, not statutory ones. The State's statutory arguments are therefore irrelevant.

The State appears to argue that Randall should not be permitted to withdraw consent to blood testing because "the statute does not *authorize*" such a course of conduct.<sup>73</sup> The State later reiterates that "the implied consent law does not *give* a person" an opportunity to withdraw his or her consent.<sup>74</sup> The State appears to be forgetting that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>72</sup> State's Br. at 32; Wis. Stat. § 343.305.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>73</sup> State's Br. at 33 (emphasis supplied).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>74</sup> *Id.* at 34 (emphasis supplied).

the source of Randall's claim is not the implied consent statute; it is the Constitution.

The implied consent law does not substitute for or nullify the Fourth Amendment in operating while intoxicated cases. The Fourth Amendment, like the Constitution generally, is a *limitation* on the government's power to pass laws and take actions; a citizen does not need to wait for the government to pass a law *authorizing* or *giving* her permission to exercise her constitutional rights. And, to the extent that the implied consent statute may conflict with a citizen's exercise of his or her Fourth-Amendment rights, it is the statute that must yield, not the Constitution. The language of a statute cannot be an argument in favor of abrogating Randall's constitutional rights.

The State raised a similar argument before the court of appeals.

That court held that:

[T]he State neither cites relevant legal authority in support of this argument, nor develops or explains how statutory authorization, or lack thereof, is material to whether the results of the blood test should have been suppressed as a matter of constitutional law.<sup>75</sup>

The State has still not developed any argument for why the intricacies of the implied consent statute have anything to do with a question of constitutional law, or how the implied consent statute might have the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>75</sup> *Randall*, 2018 WI App 45, ¶ 24 (internal citations omitted).

power to nullify a constitutional right. This Court, like the court of appeals, should decline to consider this argument.

The State also raises the issue of whether Randall should be subject to civil refusal penalties under Wis. Stat. § 343.305(9).<sup>76</sup> The court of appeals correctly noted that this issue was not ripe for consideration.<sup>77</sup> The State has not attempted to impose civil refusal penalties on Randall; if it were to do so, any related legal questions could then be addressed in the appropriate forum.

But, more importantly, whether Randall may or may not be subject to civil refusal penalties has absolutely nothing to do with the constitutional issues before this Court. If she can be penalized, then she can be penalized. If she cannot, and the prosecution feels that is unfair, then it can lobby the legislature to change the statute. Neither scenario affects whether the government's analysis of Randall's blood sample was an unconstitutional search.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>76</sup> State's Br. at 33.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>77</sup> *Randall*, 2018 WI App 45, ¶ 24 n.6.

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